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Foreword 

This brief history has been reproduced in the form of a booklet by 

the expertise and willing help of Brian & Sandra Crowe, and for 

their help I am deeply grateful.  The original articles covering the 

earliest history up to 1991 were written several years ago and have 

been slightly amended here and there.  Some of the photographs 

included were taken by Brian Crowe especially for this booklet. 

Audrey Robertson 

June 2010 

 

Part 1 

It All Began With A Drummer Boy 

During the wars with France in the reign of Napoleon Bonaparte, British 

troops were billeted in Woodbridge, hence the name of Barrack Road 

and the Barrack Corner.  

In 1812, soldiers of the Lincolnshire Regiment were stationed at the 

Woodbridge Barracks and one of the soldiers was not only a drummer 

but, more importantly, a Methodist Local Preacher.  Our Local Preacher, 

for sadly we do not know his name, sought permission from the Barracks 

Master to hold services of worship and these were attended not just by 

soldiers but also by people from the town.  Methodism had arrived in 

Woodbridge. 

Following the defeat of Napoleon at the Battle of Waterloo in 1815, the 

soldiers left and the services appear to have ceased for a while until, in 

1818, the Wesleyan Methodists in Ipswich decided it was high time to 

restore the Methodist witness in Woodbridge and rooms were rented for 

the purpose, probably in Cumberland Street and in Thoroughfare.  As 

time went by, the Methodists were on the move again and what is 

described in the history of the Ipswich Circuit as "a place" was in use in 

Woodbridge in 1822.  This "place" was located in a sand pit and it is 

possible that it was in the area of the old Deben Mill.  After about seven 

years the congregation felt the need for a more fitting place of worship 

and land in Brook Street was purchased at a cost of £54 and a Chapel 

built for about £700.  If you care to walk along Brook Street it is not 

difficult to spot the building which differs from all others, with just the 

"shadow" of the porch which once covered the door.  It is now a dwelling 

house called "The Old Warehouse" but it also served as a small factory.  

The Estate Agents who handled the sale in earlier years did not know its 

story, otherwise it might be named "The Old Chapel".  

The work flourished in Brook Street and the congregation and the 



 

Sunday school outgrew the premises.  It was also felt that the approach 

was difficult and even in the days of horses and carts one can see why.  

The fundraising started, donations were made by prominent Methodists 

of the town, together with a grant of £25 from the Chapel Building 

Committee in Manchester and a loan of £75.   

The Building Committee sought tenders and accepted the lowest - for 

£1,383. 

The site in St Johns Street was given by Mr Charles Andrews of Ipswich, 

the Architects were Cattermole Eade, and J Fosdike of Woodbridge 

was the Builder.  The new Wesleyan Methodist Chapel was opened on 

Whit-Monday, 20th May 1872, and it was a great day in the lives of many 

people.  We cannot do better than repeat the description of the building 

which is to be found in the Centenary Booklet dating from 1972: 

Built in the semi-Italianate style, 60ft x 37ft, the Church contained 

"good fir benches stained and varnished, for the accommodation of 

350 persons" and was supplied "with gas and hot air apparatus".  

The outstanding debt was soon paid off but not until January 1897 was a 

new organ installed and ready for use - at a cost of £250.  

 

 

Picture taken from “The Story of Ninety Years - Methodism in the Ipswich 
Circuit 1909-98” by Elizabeth Watthews & Janet Lumley 
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Part 2 

From the history of the Circuit, we glean that Woodbridge was the 

principal Church of the section in the early days and Local Preachers 

were "brought" as far as Woodbridge where horses were changed before 

they continued their journey to the district known as The Sands.  At 

Boyton Corner, preachers were set down and made their own way to the 

smaller Chapels at Bawdsey, Butley and Hollesley, where they 

conducted morning services.  These rituals were repeated, in reverse, 

later in the day.  Is it any wonder that Methodism has always valued its 

Local Preachers.  The absence from the early Circuit History of the lovely 

Chapel at Orford arises from its Primitive Methodist origins; although it 

would also have been in a different circuit.  The Circuit History printed in 

the early 1900s covers only Wesleyan Chapels and not until union came 

about in 1932 did the Woodbridge Church cease to be "Wesleyan 

Methodist" and become simply "Methodist".  

Prior to 1950, the Woodbridge Church was head of a section consisting 

of the Churches already mentioned, together with the Chapel at Ufford 

and, until it left the circuit in 1947, the Chapel at Melton.  The section was 

enlarged in 1950 to include Framlingham, Dennington and Great 

Glemham.  Orford was transferred from the East Suffolk Circuit in 1962.  

At the same time, Woodbridge left the section and became part of a two-

church section with its Minister based at the Landseer Road Church in 

Ipswich.  In 1969 we were back in the Framlingham/Woodbridge fold 

again, with the Minister living at Framlingham.  In the early 1970s, the 

Minister came back to live in Woodbridge at the Manse in Grundisburgh 

Road, however, back now to the days when the Minister resided in the 

large detached house next to the Church!  

Fifty years of the new Church were celebrated in 1922.  The Church was 

specially redecorated and small improvements were made to the 

facilities.  Old pictures of the building reveal a wall in the front of the 

forecourt, complete with piers and iron railings.  Like most metal railings, 

these were no doubt taken away sometime after 1939; old records of 

Trustees meetings would perhaps reveal when and what happened to 

 

the wall.  Very few members of the present Church family will remember 

the days when the Church's annual fetes were large and outstanding 

events in Woodbridge, held at various locations - Melton Grange, 

"Riverland" in Deben Road, "Elmhurst" in Thoroughfare and "Highfields" 

in Ipswich Road.  The old schoolroom would be brightly decorated when 

“Fruit Banquets" were held, and there were sewing meetings followed by 

delicious teas.  The Band of Hope flourished and, for a number of years, 

there was a Church Lawn Tennis Club, with courts in Warren Hill Road. 

Until 1939, the Wes Guild played an important part in Church life, with 

weekly meetings.  During less happy times, when soldiers were once 

again billeted in the Woodbridge area, members of the Church provided 

canteen facilities and, particularly in the 1939-45 war, many letters of 

appreciation were received from servicemen.  

Sadly, in the early 1960s the building underwent major modifications.  

Dry rot was discovered in the two-storey section which stood roughly in 

the area of the present cloakrooms, offices, Wesley Room, etc, and the 

decision was made to demolish the upper room leaving, at ground floor, 

a vestry, two schoolrooms, a small kitchen and a toilet.  The Sanctuary 

itself was partitioned in order to provide a smaller worship area with a 

lower ceiling and a new meeting room was formed at the "road" end of 

the Church.  The main entrance to the building was via the left hand front 

door which opened into a vestibule leading into the Sanctuary.  At this 

time, the organ was relocated to the back of the Sanctuary.  Church life 

continued to flourish in the altered premises, new families arrived, new 

needs were identified, new groups were formed. 



  

way 



 

The Wesley Room - Picture taken May 2010 © Brian Crowe 

 



  

Artists impression of how the new extension was envisaged. 



  



 

Construction of the Octagon Picture supplied by Audrey Robertson 

 

The new entrance - Picture taken May 2010 © Brian Crowe 



 

was installed.  

 

The Sanctuary - Picture taken May 2010 © Brian Crowe 



  

"This suite of buildings has been created, and the Sanctuary 

refurbished by the vision and toil of the Members and Friends of 

this Church, to enhance and extend the Work of God in our 

neighbourhood.  We invite you to enter and offer this House of God 

to Him as we rededicate ourselves to His Service."  

 

 

 

 

Postscript  

It would have been difficult to mention the names of all the people who 

gave of their time and talents in the last refurbishment of the Church; 



 

there were so many.  As has already been acknowledged without the 

dedication, talents and enthusiasm of the Minister, Rev David Marshall, it 

is extremely unlikely that work on the scale carried out would ever have 

been achieved.  There is, however, one other name associated with the 

Church at Woodbridge whose efforts have become legendary and no 

one will mind my making this exception.  John Wheldon, retired Civil 

Engineer, has given his professional expertise and exercised his other 

considerable skills (carpenter, mason, painter ... you name it and the 

chances are he has done it) for the benefit of this Church throughout the 

many years he served as Property Steward.  His advice was invaluable 

because he spotted defects and knew the causes when less expert eyes 

did not and his meticulous listing of work required and tasks carried out 

on the property, raised the standard of records to a level not seen before.  

He has carried out thousands of hours of work on the Woodbridge 

Church, before, during and after the development, and his advice to me 

in connection with the recent history of the Church has been very 

welcome and his written records most valuable.  We owe John a great 

debt of gratitude  

Audrey Robertson 

June 2010  

 

WOODBRIDGE METHODIST CHURCH  -  JUNE 2011 
It is now twenty years since the major refurbishment and extension of 
Woodbridge Methodist Church was completed in 1991.  Shortly 
afterwards, in 1993, Rev David Marshall, during whose ministry the 
work had been planned and accomplished, left to continue his ministry 
as a Circuit Superintendent in Kent.  When David and Judith left to live 
in Whitstable, we welcomed Rev Stephen Yelland, his wife Claire and 
their two young sons to the Manse in Grundisburgh Road.  When 
Stephen’s ministry in the Ipswich Circuit came to an end in 2001, he 
and his family moved to the Bury St Edmunds Circuit where he 
became the Superintendent Minister.  At that time, there seemed to be 
some doubt whether or not we would be allocated our own minister for 
the three churches in the Woodbridge Section of the Ipswich Circuit, 
because of the shortage of clergy available in the United Kingdom.  
We were, however, greatly blessed and the World Church came to the 
rescue.  For one year we were pleased to welcome Rev Jeremy Hajdu
-Paulen, a young American Intern, and his wife Allison.  Inevitably, 
Jeremy was called back to the USA after twelve months, where he 
was fully ordained shortly afterwards.  In 2002 the Methodist Church in 
Germany graciously allowed us to have the services of Rev Frank 
Aichele, who arrived with Gabi his wife, and they made their home 
here until they were recalled to Germany in 2010.  Frank now has an 
important role in the world mission of the United Methodist Church.  
We are now back to UK Methodism and our current minister, Rev 
Martin Dawes and his wife Pam took up residence at the Manse in the 
summer of 2010.  Thus, the Methodist system, which never allows 
anyone to become complacent or stay anywhere too long, still pertains 
after a great many years.  A complete list of all the Ministers who have 
served in Woodbridge appears at the end of this short appendix to the 
history booklet. 

Alongside the Minister, a large team of officers, including no fewer 
than ten Stewards, ensure that an efficient administration is 
maintained at Woodbridge.  There is also a large team of Pastoral 
Friends who seek to befriend all who worship with us and who keep in 
touch with those unable to attend church by visiting them in their 
homes and delivering our monthly magazine The Link.  Edited and 
printed at Woodbridge, The Link also covers news from the 
Framlingham and Orford churches.  

No alterations have been made to the structure of the buildings since 
the major alterations and extensions were completed in 1991 and the 
premises have served the church and the community, in the ways 

Appendix 



 

envisaged, extremely well.  Redecoration has taken place and 
furnishings have been renewed and equipment updated as and when 
required.  All of the rooms in the church are used regularly for 
meetings of our own members or groups from the community; some of 
the latter have been with us since the 1980s and before the alterations 
started.  The twice weekly Lunch and Leisure Club (formerly the Day 
Centre) is still popular and is now administered by Age Concern, with 
the help of volunteers from our own membership and from the 
community.  A Parents & Toddlers morning is held weekly and our 
regular Saturday Coffee Morning welcomes and makes provision for 
parents with children.  The Guild continues to meet regularly, as does 
the Ladies’ Friendship Group, and we have a fortnightly Walking 
Group whose guided walks have covered a wide area of the 
surrounding countryside.  Several House Groups provide regular 
fellowship and, occasionally, their members have conducted morning 
worship.  The Choir continues to flourish, contributes to worship and 
maintains a long tradition of presenting two concerts each year.  A 
small committed band of members continue to learn alongside the 
children in Junior Worship on Sundays and a crèche is available for 
any babies present.  On the mission front, besides giving support to 
Methodist Relief and Development Fund, Action for Children and 
Christian Aid among others, we support local charities and raise funds 
for individual projects in a number of African countries.  

Along with the town of Woodbridge itself, we are committed to Fair 
Trade and sell a wide range of goods produced here and in poorer 
countries.  Ecumenically, this church plays an active role in hosting 
services and co-operating in joint ventures with other denominations 
via Woodbridge Churches Together.  Several of our members are 
involved with those from other churches in the Town Pastors scheme 
which operates alongside the police in both Woodbridge and Ipswich.  
Our printed weekly notice sheet is headed “Welcome to Woodbridge 
Methodist Church” and also bears the words which state in simple 
terms our continuing purpose:   
 

“We seek to share the love of God, as seen in Jesus Christ,  
with everyone through worship, prayer, care and mission”. 

 

WOODBRIDGE  MINISTERS 
1872-74  Rev William Ainsworth 
1874-76  Rev Jonathan Foster 
1876-78  Rev John Stembridge 
1878-81  Rev Samuel Shrimpton 
1881-84  Rev Thomas Tretheway 
1884-86  Rev Joseph Crowther 
1886-88  Rev Thomas Puddicombe 
1888-91  Rev Samuel F Balch 
1891-94  Rev Marshall Limon 
1894-97  Rev John Stevens 
1897-1900   Rev James S Bellman 
1900-04  Rev Edward J Simons 
1904-07  Rev Edward A Bennett 
1907-09  Rev William G Allen 
1909-13  Rev W J Penberthy White 
1913-19  Rev T Llewellyn Jones 
1919-23  Rev Sydney T Hopps 
1923-25  Rev Richard E Brown 
1925-28  Rev Robert W Green 
1928-31  Rev E L Ley Peake 
1931-33  Rev Charles W Armstrong 
1933-37  Rev Harry Johnson 
1937-42  Rev John A Leafe 
1942-45  Rev Leonard W Juby 
1945-47  Rev Edgar M Ozanne 
1947-50  Rev Charles Gimblett 
1950-55  Rev W Morley Waite 
1955-57  Rev J Frederick Jones 
1957-62  Rev Claude W G Thompson 
1962-64  Rev Edwin S Nodder 
1964-69   Rev Brian W Goss 
1969-71  Rev David N Clark 
1971-77   Rev Michael B Begg 
1977-82  Rev Leonard Oliver 
1982-93  Rev David Marshall 
1993-2001   Rev Stephen Yelland 
2001-02   Rev Jeremy Hajdu-Paulen 
2002-10   Rev Frank Aichele 
2010-     Rev Martin Dawes   



  


